AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROSEBURG

AND

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS

LOCAL NO. 1110

July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2026

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 2 - NON-DISCRIMINATION	1
ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY	
ARTICLE 4 - STRIKES AND LOCK OUTS	2
ARTICLE 5 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	2
ARTICLE 6 - UNION REPRESENTATION	
ARTICLE 7 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK	
ARTICLE 9 - SHIFT EXCHANGE	
ARTICLE 10 - TRANSFERS	
ARTICLE 11 - PROMOTIONS	
ARTICLE 12 - OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 13 - SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 14 - PROBATION	
ARTICLE 15 - EMPLOYEE PARKING	13
ARTICLE 16 - RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS	
ARTICLE 17 - RETIREMENT	14
ARTICLE 18 - PERSONNEL RECORDS	
ARTICLE 19 - UNIFORMS	
ARTICLE 20 - HEALTH, DENTAL, ACCIDENT AND LIFE INSURANCE	
ARTICLE 21 - HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 22 - VACATIONS	
ARTICLE 23 - SICK LEAVE WITH PAY	20
ARTICLE 24 - ON THE JOB INJURY OR ILLNESS	
ARTICLE 25 - MISCELLANEOUS LEAVE WITH PAY	
ARTICLE 26 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY	
ARTICLE 27 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	
ARTICLE 28 - RESIGNATION	
ARTICLE 29 - TUITION REIMBURSEMENT AND TRAINING	
ARTICLE 30 - SAFETY COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 31 - HAZARDOUS MATERIALS	
ARTICLE 32 - INCENTIVE PAY	
ARTICLE 33 - ACTING IN CAPACITY	
ARTICLE 34 - DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTINGARTICLE 35 - AGREEMENT BINDING ON SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS	
ARTICLE 36 - APPENDICES AND AMENDMENTS	
ARTICLE 37 - SAVINGS CLAUSEARTICLE 38 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	29
APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX AAPPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	
APPENDIX D	
APPENDIX F	ა 4 ვგ

This Agreement is entered into by and between the CITY OF ROSEBURG, hereinafter referred to as "City," and the ROSEBURG FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION NO. 1110, IAFF, hereinafter referred to as "Union."

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a full and equitable working relationship between the City and the Union, provide for equitable and peaceful adjustment of differences which arise and to establish proper standards of wages, hours and other conditions of employment.

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

The employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all employees of the Roseburg Fire Department below the rank of Battalion Chief. Specifically excluded from Union representation are the Deputy Fire Marshal, Fire Marshal, Department Secretary, supervisory and confidential personnel.

ARTICLE 2 - NON-DISCRIMINATION

This Agreement shall apply equally to all members of the bargaining unit regardless of race, sex, age, creed, color, national origin, handicap or disability not subject to reasonable accommodation, Union membership or activity, marital status or political affiliation. All references to gender in this Agreement designate both sexes. When either the male or female gender is used, it shall be construed to include both male and female employees.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY

3.1 Dues Deductions

All members of the Union who provide written authorization shall have deducted from their salary for disbursement to the Union an amount equal to the dues and assessments established by Local 1110.

3.2 Deduction Process

Payroll deductions, assessments or service charges shall be made by the disbursing officer for the City. Proper amounts of the dues and assessments shall be certified by the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union to the Roseburg Finance Officer and shall be effective on the date indicated by the Union after the contract becomes effective. The City shall make these deductions each month for employees who have provided written authorization and are members of Local 1110. The total amount of the deduction shall be remitted each month by the employer to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union.

3.3 Hold Harmless

The City will not be held liable for the check-off errors and will make proper adjustments as soon as practicable. The Union also agrees to hold the City harmless against any suit or judgment made against the City as a result of any action taken under the provisions of this Article.

3.4 Station Fund

Because shift workers of the Roseburg Fire Department, by the nature of their duties, live together as a family in the various Fire Stations, the purchase of amenities by the shift workers is necessary. It has long been the practice that each shift worker contributes a specific amount as determined by majority vote. The fund is managed and expended by the shift workers.

In the interest of harmony and goodwill within the firehouse this practice shall continue and is a condition of employment unless the practice is abandoned through a majority vote of the membership.

It is specifically agreed that any dispute or grievance that may arise pursuant to the operation and administration of this Station Fund is not subject to Article 5 (Grievance Procedure) or any other grievance and arbitration provisions of this Collective Bargaining Contract if an employee is disciplined.

ARTICLE 4 - STRIKES AND LOCK OUTS

The Union agrees that during the term of this Agreement and in accordance with ORS 243.742, none of its membership will participate in any strike, work stoppage, slowdown or interruption of City services. In the event an employee violates the conditions of this article, the Union shall assist the City in instructing them to cease and desist from such action. Any employee refusing to return to his normal duties may be subject to discharge or other disciplinary action. If the Union or the City is found not to have taken all reasonable measures at its disposal to prevent or end prohibited activities, either party may seek damages.

ARTICLE 5 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

5.1 Procedure

The grievance arbitration procedure shall be limited to the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement or any alleged violation of its terms.

Nothing herein shall prohibit the City and the Union from jointly or mutually agreeing to changes in the described proceedings or resolution of the issue(s).

For the purposes of this article, a working day is defined as Monday through Friday; Saturdays, Sundays and City recognized holidays excepted.

<u>Step 1</u>. An employee or group of employees having a grievance should first discuss the matter with his union representative and then, after deciding to proceed, it shall be discussed with the Battalion Chief (or Assistant Chief in his absence) prior to submission in writing. Every effort will be made to settle grievances verbally at the first step. The objective of Step 1 is to resolve as many complaints as possible informally.

<u>Step 2</u>. All grievances shall be reduced in writing on a grievance form (Appendix to this contract) and filed with the Assistant Chief or, in his absence, the Fire Chief within twenty (20) working days of occurrence or first knowledge. Forms provided for filing such grievances shall contain:

- A. The date the incident occurred;
- B. A statement of the facts;
- C. Suggested and remedial action;
- D. The specific article or section of the agreement to which the grievance relates; and
- E. All grievances shall be signed by the aggrieved employee and a Union representative. (President, Secretary-Treasurer, Vice-President, Union Stewards)

Should the grievance be granted by the Assistant Chief, a written response will be submitted to the Union within ten (10) working days.

Should the grievance be denied, the Assistant Chief will notify the Union in writing within five (5) working days and explain in writing the reason for the denial. The Union may advance the grievance to the Fire Chief in writing within ten (10) working days by delivering the grievance to the Fire Chief.

<u>Step 3</u>. The Fire Chief, the Assistant Chief and a Battalion Chief shall meet and discuss the grievance. A written response to the grievance shall come from the Fire Chief within ten (10) working days following receipt of the Union notification advancing the grievance to Step 3 and be submitted to the Union.

Step 4. If the Union is dissatisfied with the response of the Fire Chief, the Union shall then submit the grievance to the City Manager within ten working days following its return. The City Manager shall then have ten working days to hold a hearing on the merits of the case and ten working days from the hearing date to make a written decision. All recordings and minutes from the hearing shall be maintained as a part of the record pertaining to the grievance. The City Manager shall issue a written decision within ten working days of close of the hearing.

<u>Step 5</u>. If the Union is dissatisfied with the outcome, they shall then notify the City Manager within fifteen working days of the date of the City Manager's decision to request grievance arbitration as the final step to resolution.

5.2 Disciplinary Grievance

On any grievance resulting from disciplinary action taken against any employee, the Union may elect to proceed directly to Step 3 of Article 5.

5.3 Arbitration

Written correspondence to the Employment Relations Board and signed by either the City Manager and/or the Union representative shall briefly state the matter in dispute and request a list of seven Oregon/Washington arbitrators who are also on the FMCS list. Within ten working days after receipt of said list, a selection of a single arbitrator shall occur (a flip of the coin shall determine which party gets first strike).

The arbitrator may interpret this Agreement and apply it to a particular case under consideration but shall have no authority to add to, subtract from or modify the terms of the agreement and shall be limited solely to the issue presented. Disputes related to matters involving a loss of pay for employees may carry an award of back pay in whole or in part as may be determined by the arbitrator.

In the event the arbitrator finds for either party, in whole, the arbitrator fees will be paid by the losing party. If the arbitrator award is less than whole, all fees of the arbitrator will be shared equally. All other costs of arbitration shall be the sole responsibility of the party incurring the costs.

5.4 Time Limits

If the City fails to proceed as stipulated in the various steps, the grievance shall then proceed automatically to the next step. If the Union fails to proceed in accordance with Step 2 through 5, the matter shall be considered as having been resolved; no grievance shall be deemed untimely based upon action Under Step 1.

5.5 Hold Harmless

The Union agrees to hold the City harmless against any and all claims or suits instituted as a result of a breach of the Union's duty of fair representation to its members in handling grievances.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION REPRESENTATION

6.1 Non-Discrimination

Employees shall have the right to form, to join, or to assist in a labor organization, and to bargain collectively through representatives of their choosing on matters concerning employment relations.

6.2 Union Business

Union representatives shall be allowed time away from their duty stations without loss of pay when attending meetings with Management for the purpose of negotiating labor agreements or adjusting grievances under the procedures defined herein. No overtime shall be paid to those participating in the meeting as a result of these activities.

6.3 Union Time

For purposes of Union Representation, up to 18 shifts (432 hours) per biennium shall be granted by the Battalion or Assistant Chief as Union time with pay for training directly related to collective bargaining and labor relations. The Union will be granted 18 shifts every two years commencing each even year in July (fiscal biennium July 1 to June 30).

No more than two members from the same shift will be allowed off at the same time, including vacation time, holiday time, Safety Committee time and Union time. If shift coverage is operationally required, shift trades shall become the member's responsibility.

Members of the Union who are utilizing the provisions of this Section will be on their own time and the City will not be liable for any injuries, damages or other costs of any kind that may be incurred by the members of IAFF, Local 1110, for traveling to and from meeting and training classes for Union representation, or for other related Union activities. The Union will hold the City harmless from any and all liabilities and defend any and all claims brought as a result of the attendance and utilization by members of the Union of this Section to participate in collective bargaining classes and activities. This hold harmless agreement covers the entire time the Union representatives use Union representation time off pursuant to this Section. Furthermore, workers' compensation coverage is specifically excluded for Union employees using the provisions of this Section.

Any dispute or grievance that may arise pursuant to the operation and administration of this Section is not subject to Article 5 (Grievance Procedure) of this contract or any other grievance and arbitration provisions which may be in effect between the parties.

6.4 Notice

Reasonable notice in writing shall be given to the affected Shift Officer when such representative will be away from his/her duty assignment. The City reserves the right to restrict the amount of time allowed when the time off will cause overtime to have to be paid.

6.5 Bulletin Boards

The Union will be allowed use of reasonable space on the City's bulletin boards to post information regarding Union business. The City reserves the right to restrict the use of bulletin board space to posting of time and place of meetings if the use of such space is detracting from harmonious City-Union relations.

6.6 Meetings

The Union shall be allowed to hold Union meetings in the fire stations so long as they do not interfere with efficiency of fire hall activities. All members may attend.

ARTICLE 7 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

It is recognized that, except as expressly stated herein, the City shall retain whatever rights and authority are necessary for it to operate and direct the affairs of the Department in all of its various aspects, including but not limited to, the right to direct the working forces; to plan, direct and control all the operations and services of the Department; to determine the methods, means, organization and number of personnel by which such operations and services are to be conducted; to assign and transfer employees; to schedule working hours and to assign overtime; to determine whether goods or services should be made or purchased; to hire, promote, demote, suspend, discipline, discharge, layoff, or relieve employees due to lack of work or other just causes; to make and enforce reasonable rules and regulations; to change or eliminate existing methods, equipment or facilities.

ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK

8.1 Work Shift/Work Week

A. <u>Fire Suppression</u>: This article is intended to define the normal hours of work for shift employees. Except in emergencies, the work schedule shall be a 48/96 (AA,BB,CC) beginning at 7:00 am. The regular workweek will be a 56-hour week, based on two 24-hour work periods equaling 48 consecutive hours on duty. The 48/96 schedule shall begin on 01/02/2024 for the duration of a 12 month trial period. The City shall maintain the right to revert back to the previous schedule at any point during that trial period.

This schedule applies only to fire suppression personnel, and not to those who normally work a 40-hour workweek for the Roseburg Fire Department. New hires assigned to a 40-hour schedule for training shall not be considered fire suppression personnel until the City determines the employee is qualified and adequately trained.

- B. <u>Fire Prevention</u>: Employees working in the fire prevention classification will work five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, Monday through Friday, (forty (40) hour workweek), with two consecutive days off. This section shall not preclude the Fire Chief and the Union from mutually agreeing to an alternate schedule.
- C. <u>Hours of Work</u>: Normal hours of work will include everything except leave of absence without pay (See Article 26). For purposes of this article, dock time will not be considered leave of absence without pay.
- D. <u>Work Cycle</u>: The work cycle for overtime purposes is twenty-four (24) days. Employees shall be paid straight time for the first 56 hours per week. Additionally, employees shall be paid ten (10) hours of one-half (1/2) times per twenty-four (24)-day cycle. Hours worked in excess of fifty-six (56) per week shall be compensated at the appropriate overtime rate.

8.2 Tardiness

Any employee reporting late for duty may be subject to disciplinary action.

8.3 Relief Personnel

With 24-hour notice, relief personnel may be transferred between shifts in order to maintain minimum shift strength. This work cycle may be other than the normal pattern of work established per Section 1 of this Article. The application of overtime shall be applied in accordance with applicable State and federal requirements.

8.4 Definition of Relief Personnel

The person on each shift, off probation, with the least seniority.

8.5 Meal Schedule

Subject to training and operational requirements, one hour is set-aside for cooking, eating and clean up of on-duty meals which ordinarily begin as follows:

Morning:

Completed 0800

Noon:

Between 1200 and 1300

Evenina:

After 1700

Sunday Brunch:

Unrestricted

Unless emergency operational need prevents a break period, there shall be a fifteen-minute break between 8:00 a.m. and noon and between noon and 5:00 p.m.

The meal schedule may vary if there is a valid reason as determined by the on duty Battalion Chief/Shift Officer. In no event except emergency shall more than five (5) hours elapse between meals.

ARTICLE 9 - SHIFT EXCHANGE

Two employees capable of working the other person's position may agree in writing, solely at their option, to substitute for one another during scheduled hours of work when the change does not interfere with the operation of the Fire Department. (Firefighters and officers may not trade with one another.) Even though one employee substitutes for another, each employee will be credited as if each employee has worked the normal work schedule and as if the substitution shall be excluded from the hours for which the substituting employee would otherwise be entitled for purposes of FLSA overtime and wage record keeping and computations. Each agreement to substitute must be separately accepted by the Station 1 shift officer prior to the trade, must be made for the convenience of the employees, and must not be required by the City. The City shall have no obligation to keep track of substitutions, or to insure that a substitution is reciprocated. In these cases the trade documentation in the logbook shall be sufficient.

Employees who are off duty on a shift trade are eligible for overtime callback, and declining to accept shall not be treated as a refusal. The employee who is working on duty under a shift trade forfeits any opportunity for overtime assignments for which the employee would have been eligible if off duty.

A written shift trade agreement need not be accepted prior to a trade under the following circumstances, and in these cases the trade documentation in the logbook shall be sufficient.

- A. An employee on-duty agrees to standby and trade less than twelve (12) hours for another employee.
- B. An employee who is off-duty agrees to accept a trade of twelve (12) hours or less to commence within twelve (12) hours of the agreement to trade, and the employee who agrees to work notifies the Station 1 shift officer of the agreement.

If, for any reason, the responsible person fails to show up for work (as agreed upon by the shift trade form), that person may be subject to disciplinary action for failing to report to work as scheduled.

ARTICLE 10 - TRANSFERS

In the event a position becomes vacant, employees within the rank that is vacant shall be entitled to use their rank seniority to bid for the shift or station opening subject to operational requirements of the department. If there are no requests for the vacant position, the Chief or his designee will fill the position with the least senior employee in that rank that has reached top step on the salary schedule.

Firefighters who have not reached the top of the salary schedule shall be excluded from this Article. These Firefighters shall be assigned at the discretion of the Chief or his designee.

Nothing in this article shall prevent the Fire Chief or his designee from assigning and/or transferring personnel when due to operational needs. Any dispute as to whether an operational need exists under this paragraph may be subject to Article 5.

ARTICLE 11 - PROMOTIONS

11.1 Promotion Eligibility

Any member of the Roseburg Fire Department shall be considered eligible to seek a promotional position if they possess the minimum entry requirements as described in the job classifications and the M.O.P.S. All applicants below the rank of Battalion Chief requiring fire department experience shall be experienced employees of the City of Roseburg Fire Department. The failure of Roseburg personnel to qualify for promotional positions and/or to be successfully placed on the promotional list, shall be cause for taking applications from other qualified applicants. Other qualified applicants (non-Roseburg personnel) shall meet all requirements except where time in grade/rank or time on the Roseburg Fire Department apply. Promotion lists shall be valid for twelve (12) months.

Upon promotion, the employee shall be paid at the pay range for the higher classification/rank.

11.2 Demotion

If any career employee is demoted due to lack of funds or reorganization, such employee shall be reinstated in the reverse order of the demotion when their former position becomes available.

11.3 Temporary Promotions

The definition of a temporary promotion is a temporary promotion due to an employee's injury, illness or leave of absence (excluding holidays and/or vacation leave). Effective the first of the month following the 30th day from date of an employee's absence or vacancy created by a temporary promotion, illness, injury or leave of absence, (excluding holidays and/or vacation leave), the City shall temporarily fill the position by offering the temporary assignment to the employees in the next lower classification based on seniority. During temporary assignments the employee will be paid the wage appropriate for the position filled. Such assignment shall not entitle such employee to promotion in the event the City declares the position vacant due to retirement, resignation, promotion, demotion or termination.

If the temporary promotion extends for one hundred eighty (180) days, the City will promote from a list to fill the position. In the event the former incumbent is able to return to work, the employee promoted shall return to the former position and be restored to the promotion list with the same rights as each person on such promotion list. If an employee serving in a temporary assignment does so unsatisfactorily, the employee shall be returned to the former classification and shall be removed from the current promotion eligibility list.

11.4 Promotional Opportunities

The definition of a vacancy is when an employee in the rank of Lieutenant or Driver/Engineer retires, resigns, is promoted or is terminated and the City determines that it will fill the position. Any vacancy existing in the Lieutenant or Driver/Engineer positions shall be filled within thirty days of said vacancy.

When an opening exists that the City will fill by a promotion, the City will provide written notice of the opening and the process for applying. The City shall maintain the following testing procedures in the M.O.P.S:

A. The qualifications needed for the job the employee is applying for.

- B. What the testing process is comprised of (i.e. written, oral, assessment, practical, etc.);
- C. The evaluation process (i.e. performance evaluations, written reports, work assignments, etc.);
- D. The percent of weight applied to all portions of the testing process and when that percent is added to the final score, and

Each candidate shall be notified in writing of the date, time and location of the promotional test. The process will be fair and evenly applied.

11.5 Promotion List

In the event employees are ineligible to be promoted because they lack the minimum service time, such employees may participate in the examination process under the following conditions:

- A. The employee must be able to complete the required service time before the eligibility list expires.
- B. An asterisk will be placed beside the candidate's name indicating that they cannot be promoted at that time. The asterisk will be removed when the time in grade is accomplished.

Candidates may review their written tests and their rankings on each part of the testing process for a period of one week following the posting of the promotion list.

11.6 Fire Prevention Officer

The position of the Fire Prevention Officer shall be filled at the discretion of the Fire Chief.

<u>ARTICLE 12 - OVERTIME</u>

12.1 Definition/Right of Assignment

Overtime shall be that time worked over and above the regular work schedule or any hours over one hundred fifty-nine (159) in a twenty-one (21)-day work period. The discretion to use or to assign emergency overtime shall be the express right of the employer. Whenever possible, overtime shall be offered to regular employees on a fair and equitable basis.

As regards employees assigned to Fire Prevention, the work schedule shall be a period of seven (7) days. This relates to the hours of work as described in Section 8.1.B. and will not result in overtime unless the actual hours worked exceed forty (40) hours in the seven (7)-day work period.

12.2 Overtime

The City will oversee a list or other records maintained by the bargaining unit for the purpose of monitoring the fair and equitable distribution of overtime to bargaining unit members wherein each member will have his/her name on the list bearing the number of overtime hours worked. A member of the bargaining unit will attempt to offer the member with the lowest number of

hours recorded, the overtime to be worked. The next offer will be made to the member with the next lowest number of hours recorded and so on. Anytime an employee receives overtime, the exact amount will be added to the total on the overtime list or record.

Lieutenants will only be offered to work shift overtime when a position is vacant in their job classification. A driver/engineer or firefighter position may be filled by a lieutenant only after everyone in those job classifications have been offered the overtime.

12.3 Shift Relief Overtime

After completion of the City of Roseburg Fire Department recruit firefighter academy, and after completing one month on shift, probationary firefighters may be eligible to work shift relief overtime, with the following provisions:

- The probationary firefighter is performing at, or above average on all probationary performance evaluations.
- The non-probationary overtime callback list shall be called and/or paged in accordance with OT rules of engagement.
- If shift relief overtime is not accepted by non-probationary employees the probationary firefighter(s) may be called and may accept the overtime.
- Probationary firefighters are not obligated to accept any overtime and their success during probation will not be affected by declining to work shift relief overtime.

Upon completion of probation, such a firefighter will be placed on the overtime list or record with a figure indicating one hour more than the member with the highest number of hours plus all overtime worked the previous twelve months, thereby effectively identifying that person as the last person to be offered shift relief overtime.

12.4 Transfer Between Stations (Definition: A transfer shall be defined as a trip from one station to another.)

Anytime an employee, because of staffing needs, moves from one fire station to another station before or after regular working hours, they shall receive one half-hour pay at their overtime rate. Employees called in for non-emergency overtime, which requires a transfer, will be compensated as above. Transfer time shall be recorded in the overtime database.

No compensation under this article shall be paid for transfers only caused by shift trades between employees.

This article does not affect the employees' eligibility for compensation for shift extensions as otherwise described in this Agreement.

Nothing in this article shall affect the priority bid process as described elsewhere in this Agreement.

If the transfer takes place during regular working hours, the employee will submit the number of transfers between each specific station (in their private vehicles only) and submit annually

for compensation at the City's mileage rate at the time of submission. Mileage reports will be submitted by December 1st.

12.5 Callback

All non-emergency call-outs shall be compensated at a minimum of two (2) hours, except that for any call out between 6:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m., only one hour shall be paid to personnel coming on duty that morning.

All emergency call-outs shall be compensated at a minimum of four (4) hours, except that for any call out between 5:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m., only two hours shall be paid to personnel coming on duty that morning.

Mandatory Fire Department court appearances shall be compensated at a minimum overtime of four (4) hours.

12.6 Carry Over

An employee required to work beyond normal end of shift (shift extension) shall receive a minimum of one (1)-hour overtime for the first hour, and actual time thereafter to the next one-quarter hour (15 minutes).

12.7 Overtime Rate

The hourly rate of pay is the regular monthly base wage of the employee divided by 242.67. Compensation for overtime shall be paid at a rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) for each hour or portion thereof at quarter (1/4) hour intervals worked. Overtime shall be paid monthly along with the regular pay schedule.

12.8 Order-Back Overtime

- A. An Order-Back Overtime list will be created of personnel for any unscheduled shift call off (Sick, EL, etc.) and used in the event that nobody takes the voluntary overtime page out. The top two (2) personnel will be identified to work the first and second 24-hour shift respectively, based off the above list if needed.
- B. The list will be initially ranked in order of reverse seniority with the least at the top and the most at the bottom. Member rotates to the bottom of the list after working his assigned order-back shift in its entirety, full or partial shift.
- C. Any mid- tour overtime needs will be exempt from the order-back overtime list, and will be called strictly off of the regular list. At the conclusion of the tour, the required overtime will move to the current shift.
- D. When it becomes necessary for a Battalion Chief to apply Order-Back overtime to fill a shift's scheduled vacancy they shall use the name at the top of the list who has the qualifications to fill the vacancy as per the overtime rules.

- E. Personnel required to stay on Order-Back overtime must remain on duty as needed for a period of up to 24hrs. An employee, who cannot complete their assignment because they become sick, forfeits movement to bottom of the Order-Back Overtime list.
- F. Completing an entire Order-Back overtime assignment will qualify an employee to move to the bottom of the Order-Back overtime list. The Order-Back person may find their own replacement if they cannot complete the shift, however only the person relieving the original employee, will move to the bottom of the list. A Battalion Chief is not responsible for finding replacement.
- G. Employees with an approved vacation position or a shift trade immediately following their working shift will be exempted from the Order-Back list, and will remain in rotation.
- H. Members who are activated on the order-back OT, may choose to find a replacement for their shift, the member will forfeit rotating to the bottom of the list, the replacement member will rotate to the bottom of the list.
- 1. In the event that there are multiple overtime slots needing to be covered, personnel will be identified going down the Order-Back overtime list until all slots are filled. Day 1 of 48 hour work cycle will be covered first from order back list, then day 2.
- J. On the first day of every month at 7:00 am, the top 2 names on the Order-Back overtime list shall be rotated to the bottom if they have been at the top for the entire month, and they have not been selected to work a required overtime shift that period. If order back list has been utilized at any time throughout the month, there is no rotation.

ARTICLE 13 - SENIORITY

13.1 Definition

Seniority shall mean that continuous length of service with the Roseburg Fire Department from the last date of hire, excepting for the following, and in which case seniority credit shall be lost:

- A. Voluntary or involuntary termination;
- B. Failure to return from layoff within 15 days of modification;
- C. Layoff for more than 24 months.
- D. Failure to return from a leave of absence within three days following the expiration of such leave. A reasonable effort to notify the employee of such expiration shall be undertaken by the employer.

13.2 Seniority Ranking

Employees shall be ranked according to their hire date. In the event two (2) or more employees are hired on the same date, their seniority ranking shall be determined by the City.

13.3 Utilization

Seniority shall be used in the determination of:

- A. Preference in the selection of vacation scheduling.
- B. In the event of layoff, employees shall be laid off in the inverse order of their seniority. No new employee may be hired in the department until all laid off employees have been given an opportunity to return. The last man laid off shall be the first man rehired.
 - In the event an employee, that has been promoted out of the bargaining unit, is laid off or demoted; that employee shall be entitled to bump back to a firefighter position if open and available. Employees promoted out of the bargaining unit will retain the right to return to their former position during their probationary period so long as they continue to pay union dues.
- C. In the event an employee, that has been promoted out of the bargaining unit for longer than one (1) year, and paid union dues for that probationary year, wishes to return to a bargaining unit position; that employee may test for a position that was vacated due to; retirement, voluntary demotion/departure or new positions. A reinstatement fee to the union will be due, not to exceed the amount of the last new hire initiation fee.

13.4 Recall

In the case of recall to work after a layoff, last date of hire shall be the last hire date prior to layoff.

ARTICLE 14 - PROBATION

An employee appointed to a position in the Fire Department shall be on probation for one (1) year. An employee promoted to a position in the Fire Department shall be on probation for six months. While on probation a person may:

- A. If in a position to which he has not been promoted, be dismissed at any time without right of appeal; and
- B. If in a position to which he has been promoted; be reinstated at any time to the position from which he was promoted or elevated for any reason related to performance.

ARTICLE 15 - EMPLOYEE PARKING

The City shall provide suitable parking within three (3) blocks of the work area for personnel assigned to the main station and substations.

ARTICLE 16 - RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS

All employees shall reside within the State of Oregon. Employees living beyond twenty (20) minutes from the City as measured under normal and legal driving conditions shall be exempt from Article 12.2 - Non-Emergency Overtime, where time is essential to fill a position (employee going home sick, injured, etc.)

ARTICLE 17 - RETIREMENT

17.1 Program and Contribution

The City shall participate in the Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) or a system of comparable value. In addition to paying the employer's contribution, the City also agrees to pay the employee's contribution six percent (6%).

17.2 Sick Leave Utilization

Utilization of sick leave for the purpose of retirement will be credited in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions. The PERS sick leave balance and amount will be calculated and issued in a semi-annual report.

17.3 Deferred Compensation

Effective May 1, 2022, the City will make a monthly match contribution to each member's 457(b) deferred compensation account, to a maximum of 1% of employee pay.

17.4 Retiree Work Back

An employee working in a bargaining unit position who is eligible for full retirement under the applicable laws and rules governing the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System ("PERS") or the Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan ("OPSRP"), and who (1) elects to voluntarily retire from the City i, and (2) begins collecting retirement benefits at normal retirement age through PERS/OPSRP may request to return to employment to perform work generally reserved for the IAFF bargaining unit subject to the terms of an individual Contract for Temporary Employment ("CTE"). The City is not required to, but may at its sole discretion, rehire the retiree.

Employment as a Rehired Retiree must begin after the employee has officially retired as determined by PERS or OPSRP (and applicable laws and rules), but not later than 14-days after the employee's retirement date. The maximum term of employment for a Rehired Retiree under this Agreement and the CTE is six months. The City may end the CTE at any time within the six-month period.

Employees eligible for full PERS/OPSRP retirement and who are retiring at normal age (as determined by PERS/OPSRP applicable rules and laws) who wish to request Rehired Retiree employment must submit a written request to the Fire Chief at least Ninety (90) calendar days prior to the employee's retirement date. The City must present the employee with a CTE within seven (7) working days. Employees must sign and return to the City the CTE within 21 days of receiving the document. The signing of the CTE shall constitute a notification of the intent to retire on the date specified in the CTE. The CTE may be extended up to maximum of 6 months if mutually agreed upon by the parties.

The terms and conditions of employment for Rehired Retiree employees will be governed by the CTE between the City and the employee.

The Work Back employee will be compensated for hours worked equivalent to their previously held rank and wage step. Social security, workers' compensation and all other

minimum requirements under the Department of Labor (DOL) or Bureau of Labor and Industry (BOLI) apply to Work Back employees. Medical (buy-up or HSA), dental, vision, life, deferred compensation and supplemental benefits are available to the Work Back employee at the same benefit level and cost share as regular employees.

The City makes no promise of additional hours outside the normally scheduled work shifts but will pay overtime for hours worked outside the scheduled shift work period by the Work Back employee.

Work Back employees are not eligible to fill overtime until all other eligible Bargaining Unit members have declined the overtime opportunity. Workback employees would follow PFF overtime rules.

Rehired Retiree employees are not IAFF bargaining unit members. The terms of the Parties' CBA will not apply to any Rehired Retiree employee, including but not limited to the contractual "just cause" disciplinary standard.

Rehired Retiree employment is "at will" and subject to any applicable employment law and/or applicable City policies and rules. The City may end a Rehired Retiree employee's employment at any time for any lawful reason.

If a promotional list were to expire during a Rehired Retiree's contract that would have created a promotion(s) in one or more classifications, the employee(s) affected will receive the promotion at the end of the contract schedule and not be required to retest.

ARTICLE 18 - PERSONNEL RECORDS

18.1 Personal Review

Upon request, all personnel records, excluding pre-employment data, kept on each employee shall be made available to the employee for review during City Hall hours of operation (Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m.).

18.2 Employee Signature

All evaluations and letters of discipline or negative correspondence admitted to an employee's personnel file shall be first discussed and presented to the employee for signature, from July 1, 2002, forward. Signing such instruments shall not be construed as agreement or disagreement, only as acknowledgement that said document has been reviewed. Letters or written comments that are disagreeable to the employee may be subject to the grievance procedure. Should an employee refuse to sign such material, such refusal shall be deemed insubordination and shall subject the employee to disciplinary action.

Any item placed in the employee's personnel file, as defined above, without the employee's signature shall be removed upon the request of the employee. This provision took effect on July 1, 1988, and is not retroactive back to items placed in personnel files prior to the effective date.

ARTICLE 19 - UNIFORMS

All uniforms, bedding, protective clothing or protective devices required of employees in the performance of their duties shall be furnished without cost to the employee.

ARTICLE 20 - HEALTH, DENTAL, ACCIDENT AND LIFE INSURANCE

20.1 Coverage

The City will maintain the current or a substantially comparable medical, dental, vision and life insurance program for the life of the agreement. Employees and eligible dependents must be covered under the City benefit plan as they initially become eligible. After the thirty (30)-day signup window period, those spouses or dependents that have not been enrolled may have exclusions or restrictions on their coverage.

Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the City from negotiating with carriers concerning coverage and rates to minimize rate increases and control premium costs. Any changes in the co-pay amount above the agreed upon amounts shall re-open the co-pay provision of this Agreement. Any resolution will be handled as required by law and will not void any other sections of this contract.

20.2 Medical Policy

The City will provide PacificSource \$500 deductible plan/participating network, if no other policy is available and found to have a better value. Effective July 1, 2018, City shall pay the cost of the monthly medical premiums decreased by the employee contribution of:

Full Family:

\$105.00/month

Employee & Spouse:

\$101.00/month

Employee & Children:

\$97.00/month

Employee Only:

\$86.00/month

In addition, the City will make available a second higher deductible health insurance plan (Plan B). For those employees who select Plan B, the City will continue to make an annual Health Savings Account (HSA) contribution of \$750 per individual or \$1500 per individual + 1 or more up through July 31, 2019. Effective August 1, 2019, the City will make a monthly Health Savings Account (HSA) contribution to the employee representing 50% of the cost savings between the \$500 deductible plan and Plan B. Employees who select Plan B will not be required to contribute to the monthly premium during the period they are enrolled in that plan.

20.3 - Dental Policy

All eligible employees and dependents will participate in the City's in-place dental plan and premium will be paid in full by the City for the life of the agreement.

20.4 - Vision Policy

All eligible employees and dependents will participate in the City's vision coverage and the premium will be paid in full by the City for the life of the agreement.

20.5 - Life Insurance

The City shall provide and pay the premium for \$25,000 life insurance (twenty-four (24)-hour coverage) on each employee. The employee may apply to increase this limit, at their own expense, at the same \$10,000 increment rate.

20.6 - Hazardous Materials Team Insurance

The City will provide a twenty-four (24)-hour \$100,000 accidental death life insurance policy for employees having completed and passed the one hundred sixty (160) hours of training for Hazardous Materials Technicians, as well as those members that are on the Hazardous Materials Team.

20.7 - Flexible Spending Account

The City will provide access to a Flexible Spending Account program, allowing employees to set aside pre-tax dollars for eligible unreimbursed medical and dependent care expenses.

ARTICLE 21 - HOLIDAYS

21.1 Accrual

All regularly employed shift personnel shall accrue sixteen (16) hours of paid monthly time off in lieu of all holidays.

Time shall be accrued throughout the month and shall be credited to the employee on a prorated basis if the employee does not work a full month.

All non-shift or regularly scheduled forty (40) hour per week personnel shall receive the following eleven (11) days off and take all days off on the designated holidays as follows:

- A. New Year's Day (January 1)
- B. Martin Luther King Jr. Day (Third Monday in January)
- C. President's Day (Third Monday in February)
- D. Memorial Day (Last Monday in May)
- E. Independence Day (July 4)
- F. Labor Day (First Monday in September)
- G. Veteran's Day (November 11)
- H. Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in November)
- I. Day After Thanksgiving (Fourth Friday in November)
- J. Christmas Day (December 25)
- K. One Additional Day or Two Half Days Established Annually

Any other holidays designated as general closure of city offices will become paid holidays for all non-shift workers, and all shift workers will receive an additional twenty-four (24) hours on their vacation/holiday balance.

21.2 Time-Off Limits

Personnel requesting time off cannot request more time than has been accumulated and shown on their most recent pay stub.

Up to two (2) employees per shift may sign up for scheduled time off, in keeping with Article 6, Section 2, and receive the same without fear of rescheduling per the following conditions:

- A. Vacation scheduling shall have precedence over holiday scheduling.
- B. Extended sickness or illness where continuous relief cannot be maintained will have precedence over vacations and holidays scheduled where thirty (30) days notice is afforded to vacation scheduling and five (5) days notice on scheduled holidays is given. (Example: If an employee is off on extended sick leave, he/she shall be considered the first employee on the holiday and vacation schedule sign-up sheet. Likewise, two (2) persons on extended sick leave would be considered the first and second persons off. In either case, the use of relief personnel from other shifts will be employed where possible to maintain existing scheduled days off and to eliminate the unnecessary use of overtime expenses.) To qualify as extended sick leave, the employee shall furnish a doctor's statement to the Fire Chief that he will be unable to return to his position for two (2) weeks or more and the approximate length of time when he will be able to return to duty.

C. Scheduling Priority

- 1. Personnel taking a full shift off shall have priority over partial shifts.
- 2. Personnel taking twelve (12) hours off or more shall have priority over personnel taking less than twelve (12) hours.
- 3. If a conflict occurs, the person scheduled for a lesser time amount off may increase the amount to insure the time off.
- 4. Bumping will not be allowed after the last shift worked by the parties involved.
- 5. Union, training and safety time off scheduled thirty (30) days in advance will be considered as one person off unless:
- 6. Holiday/Vacation time utilization (twelve (12) hours or more) will bump union, training and safety time if scheduled thirty (30) days prior to the first day of the scheduled Union/Training/Safety time off.
- 7. When Union/Training/Safety time is scheduled inside the thirty (30) day limit, this time may not be bumped.

21.3 Weekend Holidays

- A. For all non-shift employees, whenever an authorized holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as a holiday. Whenever a holiday falls on Saturday, the previous Friday shall be observed as the holiday.
- B. When an authorized holiday falls on an employee's day off, such coincidence shall not reduce the total time off for which the employee is entitled.

21.4 Holiday Use

Holiday time may be used in one-hour increments. To be considered a holiday, it must be scheduled within 60 days of the date of the leave. Time off scheduled beyond 60 days of the date of the leave shall be considered vacation. The accumulation continues monthly and may be used at that time, in minimum of one hour and not less than 1/4-hour increments thereafter.

21.5 Cancellation

In the event injury or extended illness reduces the work-force, an employee's holiday may be cancelled with five (5) days notice in order to fill-in for the injured or ill employee(s) unless holiday hours are scheduled thirty (30) days in advance and exceed twelve (12) hours. Where holiday time is so scheduled, thirty (30) days notice is required to cancel the time off.

21.6 Accrual Sell Back

With Department Head approval, an employee may sell back his/her earned time off (Vacation/Holiday Hours) prior to the end of the fiscal year at the hourly rate of the employee.

ARTICLE 22 - VACATIONS

22.1 Accrual

All employees in the career service shall be entitled to vacations with pay. This time shall be earned monthly, but not to be used until the employee successfully completes a one (1)-year probationary period. The accumulation continues monthly and may be used at that time, in minimum of one hour and not less than 1/4-hour increments thereafter.

Time shall be accrued throughout the month and shall be credited to the employee on a prorated basis if the employee does not work a full month.

Vacation time for forty (40) hour per week Fire Department personnel is based upon the number of years of service the employee has with the City of Roseburg as follows:

Effective July 1, 2015, the accumulation shall be as follows:

1 through 4 years service	7.67 hrs/mo accumulation rate (11.5 Days)
5 through 10 years service	11.00 hrs/mo accumulation rate (16.5 Days)
11 through 15 years service	14.34 hrs/mo accumulation rate (21.5 Days)
16 through 19 years service	17.67 hrs/mo accumulation rate (26.5 Days)
20 or more years service	19.00 hrs/mo accumulation rate (28.5 Days)

Vacation for firefighters in the career service working twenty (24)-hour shifts shall be regulated as follows:

Effective July 1, 2015, the accumulation shall be as follows:

1 through 4 years service	13 hrs/mo accumulation rate
5 through 10 years service	18 hrs/mo accumulation rate
11 through 15 years service	23 hrs/mo accumulation rate
16 through 19 years service	. 28 hrs/mo accumulation rate
20 or more years service	30 hrs/mo accumulation rate

22.2 Cancellation

In the event injury or extended illness reduces the work-force, an employee's vacation time may be cancelled with five days notice in order to fill-in for the injured or ill employee(s), unless vacation hours are scheduled thirty days in advance and they exceed twelve hours. Where vacation time is so scheduled, then thirty day's notice is required to cancel the time off.

22.3 Maximum Accrual

An employee's vacation accrual shall be reduced to their maximum accrual effective January 1 of each year. Any hours above the maximum on January 1 will be lost unless such loss is due to the City's cancellation of a scheduled vacation or inability to take vacation as a result of an illness or injury. If an employee is over their maximum accrual at time of retirement, the City's obligation to pay for such vacation will be limited to their specified maximum accrual.

*Maximum vacation accrual is 672 hours. Employees who will become eligible for retirement, without penalty, under the PERS Rules within three calendar years will be permitted to increase their vacation accrual from 240 hours to 672 hours for non-shift employees and to 900 hours for shift employees. Any hours above the maximum at time of retirement will be lost.

*Maximum vacation accrual is 672 hours (except for those who had higher accruals as of 6/86 schedule attached) Employees who will become eligible for retirement, without penalty, under the PERS Rules within three calendar years will be permitted to increase their vacation accrual from 240 hours to 672 hours for non-shift employees and to 900 hours for shift employees. Any hours above the maximum at time of retirement will be lost.

*Please see attached schedule for maximum accruals as of June 1986 when maximums were set.

Any employee hired after 11/1/88 will have a maximum accrual of 672 hours regardless of proximity to retirement.

22.4 Termination or Death

Upon termination, an employee shall be paid a lump sum for all accrued vacation time that he has earned in accordance with these rules prior to the termination, except that no payment shall be made for termination made during an employee's probationary period. However, in case of death, compensation for accrued vacation shall be paid in the same manner that salary due the decedent is paid. Payment shall be at the employee's regular hourly rate in effect at time of termination or death.

ARTICLE 23 - SICK LEAVE WITH PAY

23.1 Accrual

All union members in the career fire service shall be entitled to sick leave with pay.

- A. <u>New Hire Credit</u>: A new employee covered by this Agreement shall be awarded sick leave in advance of earning it and dating from the first day of employment according to the following schedule:
 - 1. A firefighter working a twenty-four (24)-hour shift will receive seventy-two (72) hours in advance.

2. A firefighter working a forty (40)-hour per week schedule will receive forty-eight (48) hours in advance.

No additional hours of sick leave will be added to such an employee's accrued sick time earned during his/her first six months of service. Such an employee will begin to accrue sick leave during the seventh month of employment.

Should such an employee use sick leave in advance for any reason and terminate prior to earning the amount used, the City shall dock said employee's final pay check for the amount due. If the employee's check is insufficient to cover the amount due the employee will pay the remaining owed to the City within thirty days of termination.

B. Regular Accrual. Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of fourteen hours per full calendar month of services; a career employee who works less than full time shall accrue sick leave in proportion to his lesser time of work. There is unrestricted accumulation to all earned sick leave and at retirement, based on the fold-in rules and schedules of the Public Employee Retirement System, one-half of all unused sick leave will be applied toward retirement benefits. Sick leave shall be the only wage compensation available to those on sick leave, but shall not affect the accrual of other benefits.

Employees who are granted a leave of absence with pay, for any purpose, shall continue to accrue sick leave at the regular prescribed rate. Sick leave shall not accrue during a leave of absence without pay. (Refer to Article 24.)

However, when an on-the-job injury occurs and sick time is deducted, such time will be restored to the employee's sick leave balance if the workers compensation claim is accepted.

23.2 Utilization

An employee may use accrued sick leave when unable to perform his work duties by reason of:

- A. illness or injury;
- B. necessity for medical or dental care;
- C. exposure to contagious disease under circumstances by which the health of the public or fellow employees would be endangered;
- D. serious illness in employee's immediate family. Immediate family is defined as wife, husband, child, brother, sister, parents or other close relative.
- E. family leave and parental leave, in accordance with City policy, which will not be reduced or changed without bargaining.

Under no circumstances shall the City grant an employee sick leave with pay for injury resulting from employment other than with the City.

23.3 Notification Requirement

In order to qualify for pay for time spent on sick leave, an employee shall, unless physically unable to do so, attempt to notify the on-duty Battalion Chief as soon as possible, preferably:

- A. prior to 6:00 AM before the commencement of the employee's shift;
- B. whatever other time the supervisor specifies in advance of the leave.
- C. If an illness or injury prevents an employee from working more than one shift, the employee must notify a Chief officer as soon as possible unless the department has been notified by a doctor that the employee is not to work within inclusive dates. In cases of continuing illness, the employee shall inform a Chief officer periodically, as requested, of the employee's continued inability to work.

23.4 24-Hour Shift Use

Special provisions shall apply to firefighters who work a twenty-four (24)-hour shift. When sick leave is taken from a twenty-four (24)-hour shift, twenty-four (24) hours sick leave shall be charged for each shift absent. Sick leave shall be used in a minimum of one (1) hour and not less than one-half (1/2)-hour increments thereafter.

23.5 Termination

No compensation for accrued sick leave shall be allowed for an employee when he/she terminates service with the City except as specified in the Retirement Article.

23.6 Validation

Sick leave is a short-term disability benefit which the parties agree should be taken only when illness requires it and when allowed by state and federal law.

A physician's certificate of illness is not required as a matter of course; however, the City may require a certificate of illness and inability to return to work, or of eligibility to work light duty, if the circumstances so warrant. If so required, City will pay only medical insurance co-pay amount. In the event an employee receives a physician's certificate the level of fitness for duty by the physician will be forwarded to a Chief Officer as soon as possible.

ARTICLE 24 - ON THE JOB INJURY OR ILLNESS

In the event an employee becomes ill or injured as a result of their employment with the City and such illness or injury is found to be compensable, the City's obligation to pay under this Article is the difference between compensation received from the workers' compensation carrier and the employee's net salary. (Employee's net pay will be calculated and then legal deductions will be taken.) Sick leave accrual will not be deducted as a result of this provision. Neither will sick leave accrue during this time (refer to Article 23). Such compensation shall continue until the employee is able to return to work, or is declared permanently disabled and unable to return to work. Employees shall be required to report their workers' compensation earnings to the City when they receive them, to allow the City to properly compensate the employee to their net pay.

In any event, employees covered by workers compensation shall be entitled to continuation of their insurance benefits and monthly allowance according to this agreement and statutory requirements.

Employees that are within three years of normal retirement may turn their lost time compensation benefits back to the City and receive their paycheck to the gross, minus legal deductions.

Light Duty

As agreed during contract negotiations, the following constitutes the policy for light duty assignments in the Fire Department. This policy applies to illness or injury which has taken place on or off the job. In the event all light duty assignments cannot be accommodated, those who have sustained an on the job injury shall take precedence in light duty tasks over those incurred off the job.

The intent of this policy is to facilitate the healing process for employee injuries to decrease time loss and to take advantage of the skills and abilities of the employees who are unable to do all of the tasks of their regularly assigned position.

When an employee is unable to perform the regular duties of his/her position, due to an injury or illness he/she shall be assigned to a light duty position.

When an employee is evaluated by a physician for fitness for duty, the employee will present the physician with a job description and a full and light duty explanation. The employee shall provide a doctor's statement that he is unable to perform his/her regular duties. A release for physicians' information on physical capacities, duration of treatment expected and prognosis as pertains to that particular illness or injury is to be provided to the City, as soon as possible, and will be signed by the employee.

Job descriptions and required activities will be provided to the attending physician to assure proper assignments for light duty.

Light duty assignment will be in the fire prevention office and/or training. The administration will be responsible for the assignment of duties. If, in the opinion of the doctor, the employee is not capable of the assigned work, the employee may be assigned to another available light duty assignment. This may be in any suitable task beneficial to the Fire Department that can be safely performed by the employee.

When on light duty, the work week schedule will be the same as a forty (40)-hour employee. When an employee is unable to work the full schedule of a forty (40)-hour week employee, by virtue of the extent of the illness or injury, a part time schedule can be arranged to meet the employee's physical capacities as determined by the attending physician.

There will be no charge of sick leave for attendance at a doctor's office, or for therapy due to the injury or illness which is job related and the subject of an accepted workers compensation claim. Sick leave provisions will apply in the event the illness or injury is not an on the job injury. However, Light Duty participants are encouraged to schedule physical therapy or medical appointments around the modified work schedule as much as practical, preferably at

the beginning or end of assigned work hours. Verification of appointments with medical providers may be requested.

Time worked under light duty assignments will be considered as any other time worked in determining seniority. No overtime will be paid while employees are on light duty assignment.

In the event an employee remains on light duty beyond thirty (30) days from the first day of light duty assignment, the accrual rate for benefits shall be amended to the forty (40)-hour rate.

Upon return to regular shift duty assignment, accrued benefits shall be re-computed at an equivalent rate.

In any event, light duty assignments are not expected to extend beyond the ninety (90) days stated in the contract unless full recovery is expected. In that event, a full medical report and prognosis for full recovery shall be provided by employees attending physician. The decision to continue light duty shall be made by the Fire Chief or designee based on this medical opinion. If a full recovery is likely or expected by the attending physician, the light duty may extend to a maximum of fifteen (15) months. If eligible for temporary PERS disability at the ninety (90) days, employee may opt to use that benefit.

In every instance, this policy shall be coordinated and supervised by the Fire Chief or designee(s) with cooperation from the Personnel and Finance Departments. All company officers and employees shall assist in the full recovery and re-integration of co-workers into light duty and regular assignments as much as possible.

Light duty is intended as a temporary assignment only. No regular position will automatically be created to accommodate light duty restrictions on employees' activities.

A doctor's release will be required stating the employee is capable of returning to regular duty.

ARTICLE 25 - MISCELLANEOUS LEAVE WITH PAY

An employee in the career service is entitled to leave from duties without loss of time, pay, or other leave benefits for absence caused by:

- A. time necessary for voting;
- B. jury service;
 - 1. Employee shall be released from all shift activity one hour prior to reporting time. This will ensure ample time to report for jury in a presentable condition.
 - 2. The employee shall notify the Officer-in-charge as soon as employee learns (s)he will be required to report for jury duties.
 - 3. Should jury duties require special considerations (such as Federal Court in Eugene or jury duties of a special nature) the Officer-in-charge will allow ample time for the employee to prepare and report for those duties.

- 4. Employees will report for work within one-half hour after release from local jury duty or two (2) hours after release from Eugene Federal Court.
- 5. Uniforms will not be worn while serving on jury duty.
- C. Legal witness; however, only in situations in which the employee is not a principle;
- D. Attendance in court resulting from official duties.

Any monetary compensation received for such absences during on duty time shall be endorsed over to the City of Roseburg.

- E. Funerals, not to exceed:
 - 1. Four (4) hours in the Roseburg area for non-family members; up to twenty-four (24) hours when the funeral is outside of the Roseburg area.
 - 2. Seventy-two (72) consecutive hours for members of the immediate family.

If additional leave is necessary, sick leave or leave without pay may be used.

Additional bereavement leave may be available through the provisions of the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA).

ARTICLE 26 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

Upon the written request of an employee, the City Manager may grant a leave of absence without pay for a period not exceeding twelve (12) months. During such absence, all unused accrued benefits shall be maintained.

ARTICLE 27 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

27.1 Discipline and Discharge

No employee shall be disciplined or discharged except for just cause. Oral warnings or reprimands shall not be considered to be discipline and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

27.2 Probationary Employee

This article shall not apply to any employee on probation as defined in Article 14(A) relating to probation of new employees.

27.3 Due Process

In the event the City believes an employee may be subject to discipline greater than a written reprimand, at a minimum the following procedural due process shall be followed:

A. The employee shall be notified in writing of the charges or allegations that may subject him to discipline;

B. The employee shall be notified in writing of the disciplinary sanctions being considered.

ARTICLE 28 - RESIGNATION

28.1 Unauthorized Absence

Employees absent from work for more than two (2) working days and who have not been granted a leave of absence during the period, or who do not present satisfactory evidence showing they were unable to report, shall be deemed to have resigned.

28.2 Resignation Notice

Employees desiring to resign must give their Department Head two (2) weeks notice of their intention. The notice should state the reason for leaving. With approval of the City Manager, shorter notice time may be granted. Failure to give proper notice under this article will be documented in the employee's personnel file.

The City will give employees thirty days written notice of intent to layoff.

ARTICLE 29 - TUITION REIMBURSEMENT AND TRAINING

29.1 Reimbursement

Fifty-percent (50%) of an employee's tuition cost shall be paid by the City upon successful completion of job related courses which are usually college accredited and taken on the employee's own time. Prior approval must be granted by the employee's Department Head and the City Manager. Requests for payment are made at the conclusion of the course and must be accompanied by a tuition receipt and grade slip. Fees paid to challenge courses or having transcripts and records evaluated are not a subject for tuition reimbursement. Employee's enrolling in courses prior to the City approval do so at their own risk.

29.2 In-service Training

In-service training may be paid in full or in part by the City. This is a Fire Department budget item. Selection for this type of training expenditure is made by the City.

29.3 Training Committee

A joint Labor/Management Committee shall be formed which will consist of two union and two management members. This Committee will be advisory to the Fire Chief. The Committee assists in reviewing training fund disbursement to help ensure fair and equitable opportunity for each member to attend training classes. In addition, this Committee will provide input into the ongoing in-service training provided for all personnel.

29.4 EMT Certification

The City will be responsible for paying all recertification fees for all levels of EMT.

ARTICLE 30 - SAFETY COMMITTEE

The City and the Union shall maintain a joint Safety Committee within the Fire Department, consisting of three (3) bargaining unit and three (3) management employees.

The Union members on this Committee may be granted time off for the purpose of attending safety and/or health conferences or seminars. This time shall be approved by the Fire Chief pending adequate staffing.

The bargaining unit shall provide one person to attend and be a member of the City Safety Committee.

ARTICLE 31 - HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

31.1 Membership

Opportunity to fill vacancies on the hazardous materials team will be extended to all bargaining unit members. Decisions on appointments to the team will be made by current City of Roseburg hazardous materials team members. If a consensus cannot be reached, the Assistant Chief will make the final decision.

31.2 Call-outs

The City will provide the bargaining unit with a written policy regarding minimum staffing according to current standards.

When required by the staffing levels specified in the above-described policy, the City will callout additional personnel to meet minimum staffing requirements when on-duty hazardous materials team members are required to respond to such accidents.

The City will establish a voluntary "Hazardous Materials Call-out Box." Employees wishing to be considered for call-outs to maintain minimum staffing during hazardous materials calls shall so notify a Chief Officer.

Acceptance of a call-out for a hazardous materials call shall only be recorded in the "Hazardous Materials Call-out Box."

Refusal to accept a call-out for a hazardous materials call shall be recorded in the "Hazardous Materials Call-out Box" and the regular call-out box.

If no employees are available for call-out from the "Hazardous Materials Call-out Box," the City will utilize the regular call-out box. Refusals to be called out in this situation shall not be counted as such in the regular call-out box.

31.3 Training

Employees required to attend training as a result of their participation on the hazardous materials team shall be compensated in accordance with the federal Fair Labor Standards Act.

ARTICLE 32 - INCENTIVE PAY

32.1 Schedule of Incentives

Employees shall receive the below-listed incentive pay based upon rank/step when achieving the specified levels of certification and/or education.

A. EMT Intermediate Certification 6%

B. EMT Paramedic Certification (supercedes Intermediate) 6%

C. Shift Lead Emergency Medical Services Technician
D. Hazardous Materials Team
E. Four Year College Degree (any major)
2%
2%
2%
or

4% incentive for bachelor's degree in Fire Science, Fire Administration, Fire Prevention, Business Administration, Business Management, Public Administration, Public Management, Fire Management, or other bachelor's degrees related to fire service as deemed by committee of (3) three. The committee will comprise of (1) one Chief Officer, (1) one union official, and (1) Human Resources Director.

F. Two Year Degree in Fire Science 29

ARTICLE 33 - ACTING IN CAPACITY

When an employee works in a higher rank for a total of one hour or more in a shift, the employee will receive one (1) extra hour of pay at the time and a half (1-1/2) rate for each shift so worked. (Time and a half (1-1/2) rate refers to time and one half (1-1/2) of the employee's regular rate of pay.) Acting in capacity pay will be issued to a maximum six employees per shift, unless an emergency situation arises I.E. emergency overtime, injury, illness, or related circumstances.

The intent is to make sure individuals who receive A/C do not get moved from station to station to save from paying additional A/Cs, or for members to intentionally take time off to create A/C opportunities.

Shift extensions excluded.

A company officer wishing to be considered for the AIC Battalion Chief list shall submit an acting in capacity program application form. Applicants must meet the minimum requirements. Applicants must successfully pass the AIC Assessment Center Process. Only off duty Lieutenants will be eligible for AC/BC. Request to fill the position will be made as soon as the need is known. Once accepted, the AC/BC will be placed on the roster and required to work the allotted time slot. Priority will be to fill the open Battalion Chief position from within administrative ranks first. Responsibility to ensure coverage will lie with administration.

ARTICLE 34 - DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

The parties agree that the use of drugs and alcohol, whether on or off the job, which adversely affects job performance constitutes a serious threat to the health and safety of the public, to the safety of fellow workers and to the efficiency of operations. The parties, therefore, agree that a drug and alcohol testing procedure will be included in this Agreement. Appendix C, Substance Abuse Testing (Section three), will be governing for all employees covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 35 - AGREEMENT BINDING ON SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, and no provisions, terms or obligations herein contained shall be affected, modified, altered or changed in any respect whatsoever by the consolidation, merger, annexation, transfer or assignment of either party hereto, or by any change geographically or otherwise in the location or place of business of either party hereto unless otherwise agree by the parties.

ARTICLE 36 - APPENDICES AND AMENDMENTS

All appendices and amendments to this Agreement shall be numbered or lettered, dated and signed by the responsible parties and be subject to all the provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 37 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

The provisions of this contract are declared to be severable and if any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be illegal or unconstitutional, such decisions shall not affect the validity of the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this Agreement, but they shall remain in effect, it being the intent of the parties that this Agreement shall stand not withstanding the invalidity of any part.

ARTICLE 38 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of the 1st day of July, 2023 and shall remain in full force and effect until the 30th day of June 2026. It shall automatically be renewed from year to year thereafter, unless either party shall have notified the other by a written proposal by the 1st day of November of the last contract year, that it desires to modify the certain specific items of the agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties of this Agreement have executed the same, by their officers and agents as duly authorized.

CITY OF ROSEBURG	IAFF LOCAL 1110			
Wikki Messenger City Manager	Kohl Smith President			
Dated: <u>9 · 27 · 2023</u>	Dated: 9/27/23			

APPENDIX A

GRIEVANCE

1.	Grievant:	
2.	Date/Time Grievance Arose: (First Knowledge or Occurrence):	
3.	Statement of the Facts:	
4.	Suggested and Remedial Action Desired:	
5.	Contract Article(s) Violated:	
,	Signature of Grievant	Date
	Signature of Union Representative	

Step 2 (Assistant Chief) Granted Denied _____ Signature Date Referred to Step 3: Union Representative Date Step 3 (Fire Chief) Granted Denied Signature Date Referred to Step 4: Union Representative Date Step 4 (City Manager) Granted _____ Denied ____ Signature Date Step 5 (Arbitration)

Arbitration Requested

Union Representative

Date

APPENDIX B

I.A.F.F. AGREEMENT

VACATION ACCRUALS JUNE 30, 1988

EMPLOYEE #	BIRTHDATE	EMPLOYEE NAME	ACCRUAL
3630	04-25-48	Banks, Bob W.	600.00
3730	03-03-44	Bergstrand, Hugh M	665.50
3650	08-12-51	Farris, Jeffery E.	600.00
3660	09-19-62	Fox, Tracy A.	600.00
3760	03-04-50	Helms, Richard J.	600.00
3780	05-21-57	Herron, Allen D.	600.00
3790	09-17-58	Kay, John E.	600.00
3665	03-25-58	Kollen, Bryan R.	600.00
3680	09-06-56	Ledford, Gary P.	600.00
3710	10 - 30-56	Pratt, Edwin R.	600.00
3820	02-13-43	Wisdom, Burnard G.	612.00

APPENDIX C

III. TESTING

A. PROCEDURES

1. Testing will be requested by a supervisor, Chief Officer, or designated management employee in those instances where an employee and/or any supervisor feels that reasonable suspicion exists. In the event the immediate supervisor is the person suspected of substance abuse, the employee shall go to the next level in the chain of command above the supervisor suspected.

Such requests to test will be made in the presence of the employee and a Union representative should the employee request Union representation. An employee shall not rely on this provision to defeat the purpose of the test.

- 2. When testing is called for as stated above, the employee will immediately be taken by a supervisor, Chief Officer, or designated management employee to a testing laboratory, where a urinalysis, blood and/or breathalyzer test will be undertaken. If the employee so requests, a Union representative may accompany him/or her to the testing laboratory.
- 3. Employees who submit to a urinalysis, blood and/or breathalyzer tests will be asked to sign a Consent Form for Drug and Alcohol Testing, attached as Exhibit B. Exhibit E, Occupational Health Medical Referral Form, must be completed as well and will be available from the Chief Officer transporting the employee to the testing facility. The testing is to be undertaken at an available lab. If applicable, the transporting Chief Officer should call ahead to ask the lab to call in a qualified representative to undertake the breathalyzer testing.
- 4. The laboratory will be licensed by the Oregon State Department of Health in compliance with ORS 438.435 and OAR 333-24-305 et seq.
- If the employee claims use of drugs under medical supervision, the supervisor must require documentation from the employee within 24 hours of the collection of the sample. The documentation will be forwarded to the medical review officer (MRO).
- 6. The collected sample will be immediately subjected to the proper panel of tests, as designated by the City. The finding(s) will be delivered, in sealed envelopes, to the employee and the Personnel Director. Under no circumstances will the employee taking the person to be tested to the lab be in a position to observe the test (i.e., breathalyzer).
- 7. The employee who will be provided the result in an envelope will know the Breathalyzer test result, conducted without the transporting employee present.

- The envelope given the transporting employee (usually a Chief Officer) will remain sealed and be delivered as soon as possible to the Personnel Director.
- 8. The Personnel Director will open the envelope and a recommendation for further action will be made based upon the results of the test.
- The City and the Union understand that results of any test must be made available to the individual being tested, and that nothing in this policy is in any way intended to impede or restrict the tested employee from receiving said test results.
- 10. The urinalysis-screening test shall be performed using the Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) test, or if at any time a test exists with a higher rate of reliability than the GC/MS Test such test shall be used in place of the CG/MS Test.
- 11. Any positive results on the individual urinalysis screening test will be confirmed through the same method of testing, the Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) test
- 12. The following procedures shall be used as soon as reasonably possible whenever an employee is requested to give a blood sample:
 - a. The employee will be transported to a local hospital or lab to have the blood drawn. The test shall be given in such a manner as to protect authenticity and reliability of the sample and the privacy of the individual.
 - b. Immediately after the sample has been drawn, it will be divided into three equal parts. Each of the three equal portions of the sample will be separately sealed, labeled and stored in a secure and refrigerated atmosphere. Two of the samples will then be sent or delivered to the Department's designated testing laboratory. The other portion will be held for the employee for 30 days or until the employee either instructs that it be sent to their designated lab or destroyed, whichever is earlier.
 - c. If the test is positive for the presence of alcohol or controlled substances the employee will be notified of the positive results within 24 hours after the City learns of the results and will be provided with copies of all documents pertinent to the test (sent to or from the City by the laboratory). The employee will then have the option (at his or her own expense) of having the untested sample submitted to a laboratory of the employee's own choosing which meets the standards previously specified.
 - d. Each step in the collecting and processing of the blood specimens shall be documented to establish procedural integrity and chain of custody. The Union and the City agree that security of the biological urine and blood samples is absolutely necessary, therefore, the City agrees that if the security of the sample is compromised in any way, any positive test shall be deemed invalid and may not be used for any purposes.

- 13. If the results of the urinalysis test are positive the employee may within 30 days request a third verifying test on a sample taken from the frozen specimen as stated in paragraph 17 below.
- 14. The City and Union will review all testing procedures annually to determine that the tests used are in compliance with current law and standards of practice as defined by ORS 438.435 and OAR 333-24-305, et seq. and any other applicable statutes and administrative rules. In the event the two parties do not review current established practices, the practices set forth in this policy will remain in effect.
- 15. An employee who has been requested to submit to urinalysis, blood and/or breathalyzer tests will be placed on administrative leave with pay pending the results of testing.
- 16. The City will pay all the cost of collection and testing. The City, if requested by the employee, shall pay the cost of a verifying test, only if the results are negative.
- 17. All blood and urine samples that have been collected and tested will be frozen and stored for thirty days at the testing laboratory for the purpose of a retest should one be required. Positive samples will be stored longer upon request of the City, the Union, or the employee being tested. Positive samples will be stored longer than 30 days upon written request to the laboratory by the concerned party. Such requests will be made prior to the expiration of the thirty-day period.

A. CONSEQUENCES

- 1. Consequences of Non-cooperation and Refusal
- a. In any instance where testing has been authorized as stated in Section III of this policy, refusal by an employee to consent to take such a test when directed to do so by a Chief Officer or refusal by an employee to provide full cooperation in testing or with personnel at the testing facility, shall be considered insubordination, and the employee shall be relieved of duties immediately pending investigation. An employee who fails to provide adequate breath for testing without a valid medical explanation, or who otherwise engages in conduct that obstructs the testing process, shall be deemed to have refused to submit to testing. Refusal to submit to testing shall be considered the same as testing positive and may result in the same consequences.

Adjusted by 5% over 2022 pursuant to collective bargaining agreement

	F01-01	F01-03	F01-04	F01-05	F01-06
FIREFIGHTER	HIRE	1 YEAR	2 YEAR	3 YEAR	4 YEAR
Base Pay	5864	6158	6466	6791	7130
	24.1640	25.3759	26.6475	27.9833	29.3834
1%	5923 24.4073	6219	6532	6859	7202
	- 	25.6284	26.9183	28.2633	29.6772
2%	5982 24.6506	6280 25.8809	6596 27.1800	6927 28.5433	7273 29.9709
	6041				f
3%	24.8939	6342	6661 27.4508	6993 28.8187	7345 30.2693
	6099	6404	6725	7064	7418
4%	25.1326	26.3904	27.7124	29.1079	30.5677
	6158	6465	6789	7129	7488
5%	25.3759	26.6429	27.9787	29.3788	30.8569
	6217	6527	6855	7198	7560
6%	25.6192	26.8954	28.2495	29.6634	31.1553
	6275	6589	6920	7266	7631
7%	25.8579	27.1524	28.5158	29.9434	31.4445
	6334	6650	6984	7335	7703
8%	26.1012	27.4049	28.7820	30.2280	31.7429
	6392	6710	7048	7402	7773
9%	26.3399	27.6528	29.0437	30.5034	32.0320
	6451	6774	7114	7470	7844
10%	26.5832	27.9144	29.3145	30.7835	32.3258
440/	6509	6835	7178	7538	7916
11%	26.8219	28.1669	29.5808	31.0635	32.6196
120/	6568	6896	7242	7606	7987
12%	27.0652	28.4194	29.8424	31.3435	32.9134
13%	6626	6958	7307	7675	8058
15%	27.3039	28.6719	30.1132	31.6281	33.2072
14%	6686	7019	7372	7741	8131
	27.5518	28.9243	30.3795	31.8989	33.5056
15%	6744	7081	7436	7809	8201
2370	27.7905	29.1814	30.6411	32.1789	33.7948
16%	6803	7143	7502	7877	8272
	28.0338	29.4339	30.9166	32.4590	34.0886
17%	6862	7204	7567	7946	8342
±170	28.2771	29.6863	31.1828	32.7436	34.3778
18%	6921	7266	7631	8014	8415
	. 28.5204	29.9434	31.4445	33.0236	34.6761
19%	6979	7328	7694	8081	8487
	28.7591	30.1959	31.7061	33.2990	34.9745
Fire Prevention	6591	6922	7267	7632	8014
C 0/	38.0262	39.9349	41.9272	44.0287	46.2330

6% EMT Intermediate or Paramedic Certification

2% HazMat Team Members

2% Four Year College Degree (any major) OR

4% Four Year Degree in related field as determined by committee

2% Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)

2% Lead Emergency Medical Technician

Adjusted by 5% over 2022 pursuant to collective bargaining agreement

	F02-06	F03-06
PAY SCALE	DRIVER/ENGINEER	LIEUTENANT
Dana Davi	7560	8175
Base Pay	31.1553	33.6892
1%	7635	8257
	31.4628	34.0243
2%	7711	8338
	31.7750	34.3594
3%	7786 32.0871	8420 34.6991
	7861	8502
4%	32.3947	35.0342
	7938	8584
5%	32.7114	35.3739
	8014	8665
6%	33.0236	35.7090
7%	8087	8748
	33.3266	36.0487
8%	8163	8829
	33.6387	36.3838
9%	8240	8912
	33.9554	36.7235
10%	8313 34.2584	8994 37.0632
11%	8390 34.5751	9073 37.3891
	8466	9156
12%	34.8873	37.7288
1004	8541	9238
13%	35.1949	38.0685
14%	8617	9320
17/0	35.5116	38.4082
15%	8693	9402
	` 35.8237	38.7433
16%	8769	9483 39.0784
	36.1359	
17%	8844 36.4435	9565 39.4181
	8919	9647
18%	36.7556	39.7532
	8995	9729
19%	37.0678	40.0929

6% EMT Intermediate or Paramedic Certification HazMat
2% Team Members
2% Four Year College Degree (any major) OR
4% Four Year Degree in related field as determined by committee
2% Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)

Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)
 Lead Emergency Medical Technician

Adjusted by 5% over 2023 pursuant to collective bargaining agreement

	F01-01	F01-03	F01-04	F01-05	F01-06
FIREFIGHTER	HIRE	1 YEAR	2 YEAR	3 YEAR	4 YEAR
Base Pay	6157	6466	6790	7130	7487
	25.3722	26.6447	27.9798	29.3824	30.8525
1%	6219	6530	6859	7201	7562
	25.6277	26.9098	28.2642	29.6765	31.1610
2%	6281	6594	6925	7273	7637
	25.8832	27.1749	28.5390	29.9705	31.4695
3%	6343	6659	6994	7343	7713
	26.1386	27.4400	28.8233	30.2597	31.7828
4%	6404	6724	7061	7417	7789
	26.3893	27.7099	29.0981	30.5633	32.0961
5%	6466	6789	7129	7486	7862
	26.6447	27.9750	29.3776	30.8477	32.3997
6%	6528	6853	7198	7558	7938
	26.9002	28.2401	29.6620	31.1466	32.7130
7%	6589	6918	7266	7630	8012
	27.1508	28.5100	29.9416	31.4406	33.0167
8%	6651	6983	7334	7702	8088
	27.4063	28.7751	30.2211	31.7394	33.3300
9%	6711	7046	7400	7772	8162
	27.6569	29.0354	30.4959	32.0286	33.6337
10%	6773	7113	7469	7844	8237
	27.9124	29.3102	30.7802	32.3226	33.9421
11%	6834	7177	7537	7915	8311
	28.1630	29.5752	31.0598	32.6166	34.2506
12%	6896	7241	7604	7986	8386
	28.4185	29.8403	31.3345	32.9107	34.5591
13%	6957	7306	7673	8059	8461
	28.6691	30.1054	31.6189	33.2095	34.8676
14%	7020	7370	7741	8128	8537
	28.9294	30.3705	31.8985	33.4939	35.1809
15%	7081	7435	7807	8199	8611
	29.1800	30.6405	32.1732	33.7879	35.4845
16%	7143	7500	7878	8271	8686
	29.4355	30.9056	32.4624	34.0819	35.7930
17%	7205	7564	7945	8343	8759
	29.6909	31.1707	32.7420	34.3807	36.0966
18%	7267	7630	8012	8414	8835
	29.9464	31.4406	33.0167	34.6748	36.4099
19%	7328	7694	8079	8485	8912
	30.1970	31.7057	33.2914	34.9640	36.7232
Fire Prevention	6921	7268	7631	8013	8414
	39.9275	41.9317	44.0235	46.2301	48.5447

6% EMT Intermediate or Paramedic Certification

2% HazMat Team Members

2% Four Year College Degree (any major) OR

4% Four Year Degree in related field as determined by committee

2% Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)

2% Lead Emergency Medical Technician

Adjusted by 5% over 2023 pursuant to collective bargaining agreement

	F02-06	F03-06
PAY SCALE	DRIVER/ENGINEER	LIEUTENANT
	7938	8584
Base Pay	32.7130	35.3737
1%	8017	8669
170	33.0360	35.7255
.2%	8096	8755
.270	33.3637	36.0774
3%	8176	8841
	33.6915	36.4340
4%	8254	8927
	34.0144	36.7859
5%	8335	9013
•	34.3470	37.1426
6%	8414 34.6748	9099 37.4944
7%	8492 34.9929	9185 37.8511
	8571	9271
8%	35.3206	38.2030
	8652	9357
9%	35.6532	38.5596
	8729	9444
10%	35.9713	38.9163
	8810	9527
11%	36.3039	39.2585
	8889	9613
12%	36.6317	39.6152
420/	8968	9700
13%	36.9546	39.9719
1 40/	9048	9786
14%	37.2872	40.3286
15%	9128	9872
13/0	37.6149	40.6804
16%	9207	9957
10/0	37.9427	41.0323
17%	9286	10044
1770	38.2656	41.3890
18%	9365	10129
	38.5934	41.7408
19%	9445	10216
== 70	38.9211	42.0975

6%	EMT Intermediate or Paramedic Certification
2%	HazMat Team Members
2%	Four Year College Degree (any major) OR
4%	Four Year Degree in related field as determined by committee
2%	Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)
2%	Lead Emergency Medical Technician

Adjusted by 5% over 2024 pursuant to collective bargaining agreement

	F01-01	F01-03	F01-04	F01-05	F01-06
FIREFIGHTER	HIRE	1 YEAR	2 YEAR	3 YEAR	4 YEAR
Base Pay	6465	6789	7129	7487	7861
	26.6409	27.9770	29.3788	30.8516	32.3952
1%	6530	6857	7202	7562	7940
	26.9091	28.2553	29.6774	31.1603	32.7191
2%	6595	6924	7272	7636	8018
	27.1773	28.5337	29.9659	31.4690	33.0430
3%	6660	6992	7344	7710	8098
	27.4456	28.8120	30.2645	31.7727	33.3719
4%	6724	7060	7414	7788	8178
	27.7087	29.0954	30.5530	32.0915	33.7009
5%	6789	7128	7485	7860	8255
	27.9770	29.3738	30.8465	32.3901	34.0197
6%	6854	7196 `	7558	7936	8335
	28.2452	29.6521	31.1451	32.7039	34.3487
7%	6918	7264	7629	8011	8413
	28.5084	29.9355	31.4386	33.0126	34.6675
8%	6983	7332	7700	8087	8492
	28.7766	30.2139	31.7322	33.3264	34.9965
9%	7047	7398	7770	8161	8570
	29.0398	30.4872	32.0207	33.6300	35.3153
10%	7112	7468	7843	8236	8648
	29.3080	30.7757	32.3192	33.9388	35.6392
11%	7176	7536	7914	8311	8727
	29.5712	31.0540	32.6128	34.2475	35.9631
12%	7241	7603	7984	8386	8806
	29.8394	31.3324	32.9013	34.5562	36.2870
13%	7305	7671	8056	8462	8884
	30.1026	31.6107	33.1999	34.8700	36.6109
14%	7371	7738	8128	8534	8964
	30.3758	31.8891	33.4934	35.1686	36.9399
15%	7435	7807	8198	8609	9041
	30.6390	32.1725	33.7819	35.4773	37.2587
16%	7500	7875	8271	8684	9120
	30.9072	32.4508	34.0855	35.7860	37.5826
17%	7565	7942	8343	8760	9197
	31.1755	32.7292	34.3791	36.0998	37.9015
18%	7630	8011	8413	8835	9277
	31.4437	33.0126	34.6675	36.4085	38.2304
19%	7694	8079	8483	8909	9357
	31.7069	33.2910	34.9560	36.7122	38.5594
Fire Prevention	7267	7632	8012	8414	8835
	41.9239	44.0283	46.2247	48.5416	50.9719

6% EMT Intermediate or Paramedic Certification

2% HazMat Team Members

2% Four Year College Degree (any major) OR

4% Four Year Degree in related field as determined by committee

2% Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)

2% Lead Emergency Medical Technician

Adjusted by 5% over 2024 pursuant to collective bargaining agreement

	F02-06	F03-06
PAY SCALE	DRIVER/ENGINEER	LIEUTENANT
Base Pay	8335	9013
	34.3487	37.1423
1%	8418	9103
	34.6878	37.5118
2%	8501	9193
	35.0319	37.8812
3%	8585	9283
	35.3761	38.2557
4%	8667	9373
	35.7151	38.6252
5%	8752	9464
	36.0644	38.9997
6%	8835	9554
	36.4085	39.3692
7%	8916	9644
	36.7425	39.7437
8%	9000	9734
	37.0867	40.1131
9%	9084	9825
	37.4359	40.4876
10%	9165	9916
	37.7699	40.8621
11%	9250	10003
	38.1191	41.2215
12%	9334	10094
	38.4632	41.5960
13%	9416	10185
	38.8023	41.9705
14%	9501	10276
	39.1515	42.3450
15% •	9584	10365
	39.4957	42.7144
16%	9668	10455
	39.8398	43.0839
17%	9750	10546
	40.1789	43.4584
18%	9834	10636
	40.5231	43.8279
19%	9917	10726
	40.8672	44.2024

6% EMT Intermediate or Paramedic Certification

2% HazMat Team Members

2% Four Year College Degree (any major) OR

4% Four Year Degree in related field as determined by committee

2% Two Year Degree (Fire Science Only)

2% Lead Emergency Medical Technician

APPENDIX E Longevity Pay Effective July 1, 2020

10-14 YEARS	1%
15-19 YEARS	2%
20-24 YEARS	3%
25-29 YEARS	4%
30+ YEARS	5%